A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Steven Brown and Jaimie Nelson came to the home of Philip 

Moore.  Lawrence Adams was also in the home.  Mr. Adams assaulted 

Mr. Brown and Ms. Nelson, causing injuries.  Witnesses gave varying 

accounts of Mr. Moore’s involvement, if any, in the assaults.  The State 

charged Mr. Moore, as a principal or an accomplice, with conspiracy to 

commit first degree assault, first degree assault of Mr. Brown, and 

attempted first degree assault of Ms. Nelson.  At trial, for both the first 

degree assault and the attempted first degree assault counts, the trial court 

instructed the jury on an alternative means of committing the crimes that 

was not charged in the Information.  The jury convicted Mr. Moore as 

charged.  At sentencing, Mr. Moore did not waive his presence at the 

restitution hearing.  Subsequently, the trial court entered a restitution 

order.  The order does not contain Mr. Moore’s signature or indicate he 

was present when the order was entered.  Mr. Moore appeals, challenging 

the sufficiency of the evidence to find him guilty of conspiracy to commit 

first degree assault; the jury instructions containing uncharged alternative 

means of committing first degree assault and attempted first degree 

assault; and the trial court’s imposition of restitution without his presence.   

 

 



pg. 2 
 

B.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  The trial court erred in finding Mr. Moore guilty of conspiracy 

to commit first degree assault as a principal or an accomplice, where the 

evidence was insufficient.    

 

2.  The trial court erred in instructing the jury on an uncharged 

alternative means of committing first degree assault.   

 

3.  The trial court erred in instructing the jury on an uncharged 

alternative means of committing attempted first degree assault.   

 

4.  The trial court erred in imposing restitution without the 

presence of Mr. Moore.   

 

C.  ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Issue 1:  The trial court erred in finding Mr. Moore guilty of 

conspiracy to commit first degree assault as a principal or an accomplice, 

where the evidence was insufficient.    

 

Issue 2:  The trial court erred in instructing the jury on an 

uncharged alternative means of committing first degree assault and 

attempted first degree assault.   

 

Issue 3:  The trial court erred in imposing restitution without the 

presence of Mr. Moore.   

 

D.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On September 21, 2013, Steven Brown and Jaimie Nelson came to 

the home of Philip Moore.  (RP 38-40, 63-65, 71, 142, 188-189).  

Lawrence Adams was inside of the home when Mr. Brown and Ms. 

Nelson arrived.  (RP 41, 66, 143-144, 152, 190-191).  These four 

individuals knew each other from buying and selling drugs.  (RP 37, 62, 

149-150, 186-188, 192-193, 213-214).   
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Mr. Moore, Mr. Brown, and Ms. Nelson were in the living room of 

Mr. Moore’s home, and Mr. Adams was in a bedroom, out of sight.  (RP 

41, 195).  There was some discussion between Mr. Moore, Mr. Brown, 

and Ms. Nelson regarding whether Mr. Brown and Ms. Nelson had 

committed theft from Mr. Adams.  (RP 41-42, 148, 197-198).  Mr. Adams 

then came out into the living room and assaulted Mr. Brown and Ms. 

Nelson.  (RP 41-44, 54, 66-68, 151-152, 198, 200-201).  Witness accounts 

differ regarding Mr. Moore’s involvement, if any, in the assaults.  (RP 42, 

44, 54, 56, 68, 74, 144-145, 170-171, 201, 203-204, 212).  Mr. Adams cut 

Ms. Nelson’s hair during the assaults.  (RP 43-44, 54-55, 156, 203-204).  

According to Mr. Brown and Ms. Nelson, a pipe was used during the 

assaults.  (RP 41-44, 66-68).     

Both Mr. Brown and Ms. Nelson sustained injuries from the 

assaults.  (RP 48, 55-56, 69, 73-74, 128-138, 156-157, 206). Mr. Brown 

was rendered unconscious, and Ms. Nelson drove him to the hospital.  (RP 

43, 46-47, 68-69, 136-138, 158).  Ms. Nelson left the hospital, but later 

returned for medical treatment.  (RP 47, 129-132, 134-136, 163).   

The day after the assault, a pipe with Mr. Brown’s DNA on it was 

found in a fenced lot located next to Mr. Moore’s home.  (RP 94-97, 102-

103, 110, 112).  A piece of hair with staining on it was also collected from 

Mr. Moore’s home.  (RP 91, 94, 113-114, 158).  A DNA profile consistent 
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with two individuals was found on this hair, with a major female 

contributor matching Ms. Nelson, and a minor male contributor matching 

Mr. Moore.  (RP 113-114, 117-121).   

The State charged Mr. Moore, as a principal or an accomplice, 

with one count of conspiracy to commit first degree assault, one count of 

first degree assault against Mr. Brown, and one count of attempted first 

degree assault against Ms. Nelson.  (CP 2-3).   

For the first degree assault count, the Information alleged:  

That the defendants, LAWRENCE W. ADAMS and 

PHILIP PATRICK MOORE, as actors and/or accomplices, 

in the State of Washington, on or about September 21, 

2013, did, with intent to inflict great bodily harm, 

intentionally assault STEVEN R. BROWN and did inflict 

great bodily harm, and the defendant being at said time 

armed with a deadly weapon other than a firearm under the 

provisions of RCW 9.94A.602 and RCW 9.94A.533(4). . . .  

 

(CP 2) (emphasis in original).     

For the attempted first degree assault count, the Information alleged:  

 

That the defendants, LAWRENCE W. ADAMS and 

PHILIP PATRICK MOORE, as actors and/or accomplices, 

in the State of Washington, on or about September 21, 

2013, with intent to commit the crime of First Degree 

Assault as set out in RCW 9A.36.011, committed an act 

which was a substantial step toward that crime, by 

attempting, with intent to inflict great bodily harm, to 

intentionally assault JAIMIE R. NELSON and did inflict 

great bodily harm, and the defendant being at said time 

armed with a deadly weapon other than a firearm under the 

provisions of RCW 9.94A.602 and 9.94A.533(4)[.] 

 

(CP 3) (emphasis in original).   
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 The case proceeded to a jury trial.  (RP 36-284).  Ms. Nelson 

testified that on September 21, 2013, Mr. Moore called her and then texted 

here, asking her to pick him up at his house and give him a ride to 

Spokane Valley.  (RP 38, 48-49).  She testified she and Mr. Brown agreed.  

(RP 39-40).  Ms. Nelson testified that after they arrived and went inside 

Mr. Moore’s house, Mr. Moore brought up that Mr. Adams believed she 

and Mr. Brown stole from Mr. Adams.  (RP 41-42).   

 Ms. Nelson testified that during the assaults, Mr. Moore handed 

Mr. Adams a pair of scissors, which Mr. Adams used to cut her hair.  (RP 

43, 54).  Ms. Nelson also testified that Mr. Moore walked through the 

living room as the assaults were occurring.  (RP 43-44, 56).   

 Mr. Brown testified that on September 21, 2013, Mr. Moore texted 

him for a ride, so he and Ms. Nelson went to Mr. Moore’s house.  (RP 64, 

71).  Mr. Brown did not recall any specific conversations before Mr. 

Adams came into the living room and assaulted him.  (RP 66-67).  He 

testified that Mr. Moore “joined in on the attack. . . .”  (RP 68, 74).   

 Mr. Brown testified that at one point he believed Ms. Nelson was 

being unfaithful with Mr. Adams.  (RP 75).  He testified he recalls saying 

he thought Ms. Nelson set him up because she had been sleeping with Mr. 

Adams.  (RP 75).   
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 City of Spokane Police Detective Benjamin Estes testified that he 

interviewed Mr. Moore after the assaults occurred.  (RP 140-159).  

Detective Estes testified that Mr. Moore confirmed the assaults occurred.  

(RP 142).  He testified Mr. Moore told him that Mr. Brown and Ms. 

Nelson were coming to his house to give him a ride.  (RP 142).  Detective 

Estes testified that Mr. Moore:  

Told me that after he knew they were coming to his 

residence, he said he called a person he knows as "Black."1  

He said he only knew him as "Black."  Said he didn’t know 

his name.  Said that he asked Black.  He said, I asked him 

can I come by and see you.  [Mr.] Moore says that Black 

asked him how he was going to get there.  [Mr.] Moore 

advised Black that [Ms. Nelson] and [Mr. Brown] were 

going to give him a ride.  Moore said the next thing he 

knew is this guy Black is knocking on his door. . . . He said 

it was obvious to him that Black wanted to talk to [Ms.] 

Nelson and [Mr.] Brown.   

 

(RP 142-143, 152).   

Detective Estes further testified that Mr. Moore:  

[T]old me that it seemed like it was probably 15 or 20 

minutes later that [Ms.] Nelson and [Mr.] Brown showed 

up at his residence.  He said that it was obvious to him that 

Black was upset with [Ms.] Nelson and [Mr.] Brown.  And 

[Mr.] Moore told me, he said, I knew it’s about to go down.  

[Mr.] Moore told me that he had heard rumors that there 

was a problem between Black and [Ms.] Nelson and [Mr.] 

Brown.  And the rumors were that [Ms.] Nelson and [Mr.] 

Brown had ripped Black off, meaning they had stolen from 

him.  He reiterated that -- he said verbatim, he "knew 

something was going to go down from the way Black was 

                                                           
1 At trial, Mr. Moore identified “Black” as Lawrence Adams.  (RP 186).   
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acting."  He reiterated that Black didn’t want [Ms.] Nelson 

and Moore [sic] to know that he was waiting for them at his 

residence. . . .   

 

(RP 144, 152).   

 Detective Estes testified Mr. Moore told him Mr. Adams came into 

the living room and immediately punched Mr. Brown.  (RP 144).  He 

testified Mr. Moore told him he went outside during the assaults, coming 

back inside only for cigarettes.   (RP 145-147).  Detective Estes testified 

Mr. Moore “said his impression was that Black was accusing [Ms.] Nelson 

and [Mr.] Brown of having his money.”  (RP 145).   

 Detective Estes testified that Mr. Moore told him he “got [Ms. 

Nelson and Mr. Brown] into a conversation when Black was out of sight, 

he engaged them, initiated a conversation about Black.”  (RP 148).  He 

further testified Mr. Moore “told him that his intent was to have [Ms. 

Nelson and Mr. Brown] give him a ride to Black’s house to pick up some 

more cocaine. . . .”  (RP 150).   

 On cross-examination, Detective Estes testified as follows 

regarding Mr. Moore’s statements about the assaults:   

[Defense counsel:]  During this conversation, if I 

understand your testimony this afternoon, Mr. Moore 

indicated that this came as a surprise to him; correct? 

[Detective Estes:]  He didn’t indicate that.   

[Defense counsel:]  He admitted that he set it up?   

[Detective Estes:]  No, he didn’t admit he set it up.  He 

reiterated to me that, to use his terminology, I knew it was 

about to go down.  He was not surprised.   
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. . . .  

[Defense counsel:]  Did he say that he knew that Mr. Black 

-- Mr. Adams was going to do what specifically was done?   

[Detective Estes:]  He didn’t say anything about specifics.   

[Defense counsel:]  Okay.  And he didn’t actually say when 

he knew an assault would happen?   

[Detective Estes:]  No.   

 

(RP 169-170).   

 Detective Estes testified that Mr. Moore did not think the pipe 

came from his residence, “[s]o he believed Black must have brought it 

with him.”  (RP 157).   

 Mr. Moore testified in his own defense.  (RP 183-231).  He 

testified that on September 21, 2013, Ms. Nelson called him because she 

wanted to come get some drugs from him.  (RP 188).   Mr. Moore testified 

he told Ms. Nelson that if she came to pick him up, he might be able to 

make some arrangements.  (RP 189, 228).   

 Mr. Moore testified he was aware Mr. Adams was accusing Ms. 

Nelson and Mr. Brown of the theft.  (RP 215).  He testified Ms. Nelson 

told him that at the time of the theft from Mr. Adams, she was out of town.  

(RP 188, 229-230).   

 Mr. Moore testified he called Mr. Adams to order drugs and that 

Mr. Adams arrived at his house before Ms. Nelson and Mr. Brown arrived.  

(RP 190-191, 215-217, 229).  He testified that he called Mr. Adams for 

drugs for other people, not Ms. Nelson and Mr. Brown, because he did not 
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think they were going to show up.  (RP 229-230).  Mr. Moore testified that 

when Ms. Nelson and Mr. Brown eventually arrived, Mr. Adams went into 

one of his bedrooms, and told him to “let them in, smoke some drugs with 

them.”  (RP 195).   

 Mr. Moore testified that when Mr. Adams arrived at his house, he 

did not see him with any sort of weapon.  (RP 199, 225-226, 231).  He 

testified he did not supply Mr. Adams with the pipe, and he had not seen it 

before.  (RP 225-226, 230-231).   

 Mr. Moore testified he was trying to get Ms. Nelson and Mr. 

Brown to talk about the theft incident: “I’m thinking, maybe Black got it 

wrong . . . I get them talking about what happened, he may be - - he’ll 

realize they were out of town and couldn’t have did it.”  (RP 197-198).  

He testified he tried to get them to say something that would change Mr. 

Adams’ mind.  (RP 198).   

 Mr. Moore testified Mr. Adams came into the living room, and he 

was talking about Ms. Nelson and Mr. Brown committing the theft.  (RP 

199-200, 220-221).   

 Mr. Moore testified he did not touch Ms. Nelson or Mr. Brown.  

(RP 201-202, 204, 212).  He testified Mr. Adams grabbed the scissors 

himself and cut Ms. Nelson’s hair.  (RP 203-204, 226).   
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 Mr. Moore testified he did not have any agreement with Mr. 

Adams to “set this up to where he could attack these people[.]”  (RP 212).  

He testified “[t]he only agreement me and Black made was, he asked me if 

they ever showed up, to call him.  That was it.  Like I said, they never 

showed up.”  (RP 212).  Mr. Moore testified that when he called Mr. 

Adams to bring him drugs on the day in question, Mr. Adams thought Ms. 

Nelson and Mr. Brown were already there.  (RP 213).  He testified that he 

did not bring everyone together, but rather, “[i]t’s just circumstances, 

situations and issues brought everyone together.”  (RP 227).    

  The trial court instructed the jury that in order to find Mr. Moore 

guilty of conspiracy to commit first degree assault, it had to find:  

(1) That on or about the 21st day of September, 2013, the 

defendant agreed with one or more persons to engage in or 

cause the performance of conduct constituting the crime of 

first degree assault;  

(2) That the defendant made the agreement with the intent 

that such conduct be performed;  

(3) That anyone of the persons involved in the agreement 

took a substantial step in pursuance of the agreement; and  

(4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington. 

 

(CP 142; RP 248-249).   

The trial court instructed the jury that in order to find Mr. Moore guilty of 

first degree assault, it had to find: 

(1) That on or about the 21st day of September, 2013, the 

defendant assaulted STEVEN BROWN;  
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(2) That the assault was committed with a deadly weapon 

or by a force or means likely to produce great bodily harm 

or death;  

(3) That the defendant acted with intent to inflict great 

bodily harm; and  

(4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington. 

 

(CP 136; RP 245-246).   

The trial court instructed the jury that in order to find Mr. Moore guilty of 

attempted first degree assault, it had to find:  

(1) That on or about the 21st day of September, 2013 the 

defendant did an act that was a substantial step toward the 

commission of first degree assault against Jamie Nelson;  

(2) That the act was done with the intent to commit first 

degree assault, and;  

(3) That the act occurred in the State of Washington. 

 

(CP 144; RP 249).   

The trial court defined first degree assault for the jury as follows:  

A person commits the crime of assault in the first degree 

when, with intent to inflict great bodily harm, he or she 

assaults another with any deadly weapon or by any force or 

means likely to produce great bodily harm or death. 

 

(CP 135; RP 245).   

 The trial court instructed the jury on accomplice liability. (CP 146; 

RP 250).  During its deliberations, the jury submitted an inquiry regarding 

the applicability of the accomplice liability instruction.  (CP 157; RP 287-

290).  The trial court informed the jury the accomplice liability instruction 

applies to all three counts.  (CP 157; RP 287-290).   
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 The jury found Mr. Moore guilty as charged.  (CP 152-154; RP 

292).  The jury also returned special verdicts finding that Mr. Moore was 

armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the first 

degree assault and the attempted first degree assault counts.  (CP 155-156; 

RP 292-293).  Mr. Moore was sentenced as a persistent offender, to life in 

prison without the possibility of early release.  (CP 184; RP 315-316).   

 At sentencing, defense counsel agreed to leave restitution open for 

up to 180 days.  (RP 312).  Defense counsel informed the trial court Mr. 

Moore did not waive his right to be present at the restitution hearing.  (RP 

320).  Subsequently, the trial court entered an order setting restitution.  

(CP 212).  Mr. Moore did not sign this order, and the order does not 

indicate that he was present when the order was entered, or that he waived 

his right to be present.  (CP 212).    

 Mr. Moore timely appealed.  (CP 192-204).   

E.  ARGUMENT 

Issue 1:  The trial court erred in finding Mr. Moore guilty of 

conspiracy to commit first degree assault as a principal or an 

accomplice, where the evidence was insufficient.    

 

In every criminal prosecution, due process requires that the State 

prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, every fact necessary to constitute the 

charged crime.  In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. 

Ed. 2d 368 (1970).  Where a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the 
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evidence, the proper inquiry is “whether, after viewing the evidence in the 

light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found 

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.”  State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 

829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (citing State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 

P.2d 628 (1980)).  “[A]ll reasonable inferences from the evidence must be 

drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the 

defendant.”  Id.  (citing State v. Partin, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906-07, 567 P.2d 

1136 (1977)).  Furthermore, “[a] claim of insufficiency admits the truth of 

the State’s evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn 

therefrom.”  Id. (citing State v. Theroff, 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 

1254 (1980)).  Sufficient means more than a mere scintilla of evidence; 

there must be that quantum of evidence necessary to establish 

circumstances from which the jury could reasonably infer the fact to be 

proved.  State v. Fateley, 18 Wn. App. 99, 102, 566 P.2d 959 (1977).  The 

remedy for insufficient evidence to prove a crime is reversal, and retrial is 

prohibited.  State v. Smith, 155 Wn.2d 496, 505, 120 P.3d 559 (2005).   

A person is guilty of conspiracy when:  

[W]ith intent that conduct constituting a crime be 

performed, he or she agrees with one or more persons to 

engage in or cause the performance of such conduct, and 

any one of them takes a substantial step in pursuance of 

such agreement. 

RCW 9A.28.040(1).   
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Thus, the trial court instructed the jury that in order to find Mr. Moore 

guilty of conspiracy to commit first degree assault, it had to find:  

(1) That on or about the 21st day of September, 2013, the 

defendant agreed with one or more persons to engage in or 

cause the performance of conduct constituting the crime of 

first degree assault;  

(2) That the defendant made the agreement with the intent 

that such conduct be performed;  

(3) That anyone of the persons involved in the agreement 

took a substantial step in pursuance of the agreement; and  

(4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington. 

 

(CP 142; RP 248-249).   

First degree assault is defined here as follows:  

A person commits the crime of assault in the first degree 

when, with intent to inflict great bodily harm, he or she 

assaults another with any deadly weapon or by any force or 

means likely to produce great bodily harm or death. 

 

 (CP 135; RP 245); see also RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a); State v. Hickman, 135 

Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998) (“[J]ury instructions not objected to 

become the law of the case.”).   

 “[A]n agreement to commit a crime is an essential part of a 

conspiracy.”  State v. Miller, 131 Wn.2d 78, 87, 929 P.2d 372 (1997).  In 

order to prove a conspiracy, a formal agreement is not necessary.  State v. 

Israel, 113 Wn. App. 243, 284, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002).  However, “[t]he 

State must show an actual, rather than feigned agreement with at least one 

other person to prove conspiracy.”  State v. Stark, 158 Wn. App. 952, 962,

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