FILED APRIL 27, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

No. 32654-3-III

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

PHILIP PATRICK MOORE, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SPOKANE COUNTY The Honorable Harold D. Clarke III

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Prosecuting Attorney

Brian C. O'Brien Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH A CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FIRST DEGREE ASSAULT

1. Standard of Review for sufficiency of evidence.

When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a criminal case, all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

The reviewing court need not be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, but only that substantial evidence supports the State's case. *State v. Galisia*, 63 Wn. App. 833, 838, 822 P.2d 303 (1992).

Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are not subject to review. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). The reviewing court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn. App. 410, 824 P.2d 533, *review denied*, 119 Wn.2d 1011, 833 P.2d 386 (1992).

2. <u>The evidence was sufficient to support the conviction for</u> <u>conspiracy to commit first degree assault.</u>

To prove the conspiracy charge, the State had to prove that the defendant agreed with Mr. Adams to cause conduct constituting assault the first degree, that he made the agreement with the intent that such conduct be performed, and that a person involved in the agreement took a substantial step in pursuance of the agreement. RCW 9A.28.040. *See, eg. State v. Israel,* 113 Wn. App. 243, 284, 54 P.3d 1218, 1241 (2002)

To establish a conspiracy, the State does not need to show a formal agreement. *State v. Barnes*, 85 Wn. App. 638, 664, 932 P.2d 669 (1997). And, the conspiracy may be proven by the declarations, acts, and conduct of the parties, or by a concert of action. *Id.* This proof may be circumstantial. *Israel*, 113 Wn. App. at 284.

In the instant case, Defendant Moore called the victims and seemed in a rush to get a ride. When they arrived at his place, he had them come in, no longer in a rush for a ride, and had both of them sit there while discussing the burglary of Mr. Adams apartment, knowing Mr. Adams was listening from another room. Defendant admitted knowing that Mr. Adams was attempting to find Ms. Nelson and Mr. Brown as Adams believed they were involved in a burglary of his apartment. Defendant admitted that he called Mr. Adams, had a lengthy discussion with Mr. Adams, and that this call occurred after he called the victims. Defendant knew there would be a pretty severe consequence to Ms. Nelson and Mr. Brown for ripping off dealer Adams. RP 214-15.

Defendant Moore admitted he had given victim Brown the cocaine rock to smoke because Moore had agreed to follow the plan laid down by Mr. Adams - that when Mr. Brown and Ms. Nelson arrived, Moore was to invite them in and give them some cocaine, and get ready for what was going to go down. RP 197, ll 13-20. Defendant Moore participated in both of the assaults, including taking turns beating and urinating on Mr. Brown.

A conspiracy may be proven by a "concert of action, all the parties working together understandingly, with a single design for the accomplishment of a common purpose." *Israel*, 113 Wn. App. at 284 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *State v. Casarez–Gastelum*, 48 Wn. App. 112, 116, 738 P.2d 303 (1987)). A formal agreement is not necessary, *State v. Smith*, 65 Wn. App. 468, 471, 828 P.2d 654 (1992). Adams and Defendant Moore concertedly worked - taking turns beating victim Brown with a pipe until he was unresponsive and bleeding on the

10

floor. The joint beating covered the walls and floor with the victims' hair and blood.

The conspiracy may be proved by circumstantial evidence. *Barnes*, 85 Wn. App. at 664; *State v. Brown*, 45 Wn. App. 571, 579, 726 P.2d 60 (1986). In this case, as outlined above, there is more than enough circumstantial and inferential evidence of "declarations, acts, and conduct of the parties" to establish that Mr. Adams and Defendant Moore agreed to coordinate the first degree assault that did in fact occur at Mr. Moore's residence. The evidence establishes that Defendant Moore provided the place, opportunity, and willingly participated in both assaults after discussing the situation with Mr. Adams.

B. INSTRUCTIONAL ERROR MAY NOT BE PREDICATED ON THE TRIAL COURT GIVING THE VERY INSTRUCTION OFFERED BY THE DEFENDANT. ADDITIONALLY, ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS WHERE THE DEFENDANT'S THEORY OF THE CASE INVOLVED ONLY THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE DEFENDANT AIDED AND ABETTED THE ASSAULTS.

The appellant claims that the State charged Mr. Moore with first degree assault under the "third alternative means, '[a]ssaults another and inflicts great bodily harm" but that "the to-convict jury instruction included only the first alternative means of committing first degree assault, 'the assault was committed with a deadly weapon or by force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death[.]" Brief of Appellant,

page 20. The appellant then claims that this error in the to-convict instruction on an uncharged alternative means prejudiced the defendant. *Id.* Page 21-23. However, any error in the jury instruction is not reviewable because it was invited, and in any event, any error was harmless.

1. <u>The error was invited and this precludes the defendant from</u> raising the issue on appeal.

Under the invited error rule, a party may not request an instruction and later complain on appeal that the requested instruction was given. *State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999). The appellate courts are to apply the invited error doctrine as a "strict rule" to situations where the defendant's actions at least in part caused the error. *Studd*, 137 Wn.2d at 547 (applying the doctrine even in cases where the error resulted from neither negligence nor bad faith. *Id.*).

Indeed, the invited error doctrine applies even to cases where the to-convict instruction omitted an essential element of the crime. *See State v. Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d 867, 869, 792 P.2d 514 (1990) ("even if error was committed, *of whatever kind*, it was at the defendant's invitation and he is therefore precluded from claiming on appeal that it is reversible error." *Id.* at 870) (emphasis added); *State v. Summers*, 107 Wn. App. 373, 380–82, 28 P.3d 780 (2001), *modified on other grounds*, 43 P.3d 526

(2002). In the instant case, the trial court gave the following instruction now excepted to:

INSTRUCTION No. 10

To convict the defendant of the crime of assault in the first degree, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That on or about the 21st day of September, 2013, the defendant assaulted STEVEN BROWN;

(2) That the assault was committed with a deadly weapon or by a force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death;

(3) That the defendant acted with intent to inflict great bodily harm; and

(4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand. if. after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 136 (Trial Court's Instruction No. 10).

The defendant's proposed instruction does not differ:

INSTRUCTION NO.

13

To convict the defendant of the crime of assault in the first degree, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That on or about the 21st day of September, 2013, the defendant assaulted Steven Brown.

(2) That the assault was committed with with a deadly weapon or by a force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or death;

(3) That the defendant acted with intent to inflict great bodily harm; and

(4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

WPIC 35.02
W. Scott Mason, Director
Spokane County Counsel for Defense
1116 W. Broadway
Spokane, Washington 99260-0285
Phone: (509) 477-3443 Fax: (509) 477-3448

CP 79 (Defendant's proposed instructions to the jury).

Similarly, the defendant's proposed instruction on the crime of attempted first degree assault charges does not vary in any significant degree than the one given by the Court. Compare CP 144 (court's toconvict instruction #18 on attempted first degree assault) with CP 81 (defendant's proposed to convict instruction on attempted first degree assault).

Here, Defendant Moore's proposed to-convict instructions contain the language adopted by the court. A defendant may not request instructions be given to the jury and then complain upon appeal that the instructions are constitutionally deficient, even if the error is of constitutional magnitude. *State v. Aho*, 137 Wn.2d 736, 744–45, 975 P.2d 512 (1999). As our State Supreme Court noted in *State v. Henderson*:

The law in this regard was clearly declared in *State v. Boyer*, 91 Wn.2d 342, 588 P.2d 1151 (1979), a *unanimous* decision of *this court:*

This court, in *State v. Kroll*, 87 Wn.2d 829, 558 P.2d 173 (1976), and succeeding cases, has recognized the constitutional requirement that the prosecution bear the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt each element of the crime charged. It is against this constitutional test that a challenged instruction may be measured. In this case, however, we do not reach the constitutional issue.

The instruction given is one which the defendant himself proposed. A party may not request an instruction and later complain on appeal that the requested instruction was given. Ball v. Smith, 87 Wn.2d 717, 556 P.2d 936 (1976); Vangemert v. McCalmon, 68 Wn.2d 618, 414 P.2d 617 (1966). The defendant's challenge to the instruction must therefore fail.

The judgment is affirmed.

(Italics ours.) *Boyer*, 91 Wn.2d at 344–45, 588 P.2d 1151, *Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d at 870.

Thus, regardless of the merit of Moore's argument on the issue, the invited error doctrine precludes relief. He cannot request instructions, receive the instructions he requested, and thereby set up error on appeal.³

2. <u>Any error was harmless because the defendant stipulated</u> <u>that the degree of injury was not an issue – the only issue</u> <u>was whether the defendant acted as an accomplice.</u>

The defendant's whole theory of the case was that the assaults took

place - almost killing Mr. Brown and severely injuring Ms. Nelson - but

that he had nothing to do with the first degree assaults because he was

neither an accomplice nor a principal to the assaults.

Prior to any trial testimony, the following stipulation occurred:

COURT: What else do we have for this morning? MR. CIPOLLA (Prosecutor): Your Honor, the only thing I would bring to the Court's attention is, we have a stipulation of the parties that the detective can talk about the injuries. **Injury is not the issue, it is accomplice liability.**

THE COURT: Mr. Dressler.

MR. DRESSLER: It is correct, because our defense is Mr. Moore had absolutely nothing to do with any of the injuries, and did not act as an accomplice or as a principal. As long as the detective is subject to cross-

³ The defendant had no objections to the instructions. RP 236, line 18-20

examination on those injuries, and that I can use any of the documents I have been provided in discovery to use. As he's the lead detective, he would have access to them all.

THE COURT: As it pertains to the injuries, you are talking about?

MR. DRESSLER: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. DRESSLER: So Mr. Cipolla is correct. I suspect at some point we'll need to write up a stipulation of some sort unless the Court believes that the transcript will be sufficient.

THE COURT: It is up to you, folks. It is clearly on the record, and you two have talked about it. If you want something else in writing, that is fine.

RP 31

Indeed, all of the evidence, including the defendant's testimony,

clearly established that a first degree assault had taken place that would meet either of the first degree assault alternatives (other than poisoning).

The evidence was overwhelming and uncontested in this regard. The

defendant believed that Mr. Brown was almost killed by the beating with a

club. RP 207. The doctors agreed. RP 136-38. The only issue was

whether the defendant was involved as an accomplice to Mr. Adams.

RP 31. That is what the defendant argued in closing. That was the theory

of his case. As Mr. Dressler stated in closing argument for Mr. Moore:

Was Mr. Steven Brown assaulted? Yes. I am not about to try to convince you otherwise. You heard Mr. Brown. You saw the pictures. There is no doubt that he not only was assaulted, it was done viciously, and that he's fortunate that he's here today. Mr. Moore and I do not dispute that. But who did the beating? The evidence does a good job of showing it's Black.

RP 270.

Any instructional error was both invited and harmless.

C. THE DEFENDANT AND HIS ATTORNEY SIGNED THE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE WHICH AUTHORIZED "AN AGREED RESTITUTION ORDER MAY BE ENTERED." DEFENDANT THEREBY WAIVED ANY COMPLAINT REGARDING THE ENTRY OF THE AGREED ORDER THAT WAS SUBMITTED TO AND SIGNED BY PARTIES AND THE COURT.

The Judgement and Sentence specifically authorized that an agreed restitution order could be entered. J&S, p. 6, ¶ 4,3; CP 185. The Judgment was signed by the Defendant. Defendant's attorney agreed to the restitution order and approved it for entry. CP 212. Presumptively he discussed the matter with his client. In determining the amount of restitution, a trial court may rely on a defendant's admission or acknowledgment of the amount of restitution. *State v. Gray*, 174 Wn.2d 920, 926, 280 P.3d 1110 (2012); *State v. Hunsicker*, 129 Wn.2d 554, 558–59, 919 P.2d 79 (1996). The sentencing judge may rely on what is acknowledged, admitted, or shown at trial to impose restitution. *State v. Woods*, 90 Wn. App. 904, 907, 953 P.2d 834 (1998).

Additionally, the restitution was for Crime Victims Compensation which is specifically provided for in RCW 9.94A.753 (7):

Regardless of the provisions of subsections (1) through (6) of this section, the court shall order restitution in all cases where the victim is entitled to benefits under the crime victims' compensation act, chapter <u>7.68</u> RCW. If the court does not order restitution and the victim of the crime has been determined to be entitled to benefits under the crime victims' compensation act, the department of labor and industries, as administrator of the crime victims' compensation program, may petition the court within one year of entry of the judgment and sentence for entry of a restitution order. Upon receipt of a petition from the department of labor and industries, the court shall hold a restitution hearing and shall enter a restitution order.

Because the defendant's attorney stipulated to the agreed order, the State did not have a restitution hearing. Defendant may have done so from a tactical standpoint, because at a full restitution hearing the medical expenses incurred by the State (unpaid by the victim) could amount to thousands and thousands of dollars. If the defendant prevails on the restitution issue, then the matter should be remanded for a full restitution hearing where the State can seek to determine the full amount of restitution.

- |||
- ///
- |||

V. CONCLUSION

The evidence was more than sufficient to support the conviction for conspiracy; any instructional error was invited and harmless. For the reasons stated above, the defendant's convictions and sentence should be affirmed.